STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

APR 22 2019

CERTIORARI TO RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2018-001290

---

Marie Assa'ad-Faltas,

Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Petitioner.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOHNNY ELLIS JAMES JR.  
S.C. Bar No. 101260  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the PCR court err in finding trial ineffective for failing to raise at trial the issue of whether the local City of Columbia rubbish ordinance was preempted by state law and Department of Health and Environmental Control regulations where the City had the power to enact its ordinance, where the ordinance is consistent with the Constitution and the general law of the state, and where there is nothing to indicate the intention of the legislature to preempt the ability of local municipalities to regulate property maintenance?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Marie Assa'ad-Faltas ("Faltas") is not incarcerated. Faltas was cited by the City of Columbia on October 20, 2011, for violating Sections 8-32 and 8-41 of the Code of Ordinances for the City of Columbia, as well as Section 307.1 of the International Property Maintenance Code—collectively charged and tried as unlawful acts.<sup>1</sup> Orin G. Briggs, Esq. represented Petitioner, and David A. Fernandez, Esq., for the City of Columbia, prosecuted the case. On April 11, 2013, Faltas proceeded to trial before the Honorable Carl L. Solomon, municipal court judge, and a jury. (Appx. 92-365). The jury found Faltas guilty as cited the same day. After deferring sentencing until April 25, 2013, Judge Solomon sentenced Faltas to be jailed for a term of thirty days. (Appx. 481-82).

Faltas filed a timely notice of appeal to the Richland County Court of Common Pleas (2013-CP-40-03525). The parties appeared for oral arguments before the Honorable Alison Renee Lee, circuit court judge, on December 13, 2013. (Appx. 508-632). Faltas proceeded *pro se*<sup>2</sup> and the City was again represented by Fernandez. By Order filed August 19, 2014, Judge Lee affirmed Faltas' conviction. (Appx. 633-48). Faltas timely filed for reconsideration, which was denied by Order filed October 24, 2014. (Appx. 650-53).

---

<sup>1</sup> "The underlying nature of the charge relates to sanitary condition and that includes basically garbage, leaves, trash, debris, et cetera, scattered about. It also relates to outdoor placement of items that are prohibited and there's a list of items that are prohibited which the city would allege are on the Defendant's property. I think that's the basis of it, right? Two of them. And then there's a couple – what we provided them were a couple of definition sections to describe what exactly qualifies as garbage or rubbish or debris or whatever." (Appx. 52-53).

<sup>2</sup> Attorney Tristan M. Shaffer, Esq., who was appointed after the filing of the notice of appeal, was present for the duration of the proceedings, notwithstanding the grant of his motion to be relieved as counsel.

Faltas filed a timely notice of appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on October 31, 2014. (Appx. 655). By Order dated January 9, 2015, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal due to Faltas' failure to obtain counsel. (Appx. 656). Faltas petitioned the Court of Appeals for rehearing on January 16, 2015. (Appx. 657). Faltas additionally petitioned for certiorari and moved for appointment of counsel in the South Carolina Supreme Court on January 26, 2015. (Appx. 659). The South Carolina Supreme Court dismissed the petition and motion by Order filed May 6, 2015, due to the petition for rehearing still pending in the Court of Appeals. (Appx. 660). The Court of Appeals issued the remittitur on June 4, 2015. (Appx. 661).

Faltas filed her application for post-conviction relief on March 3, 2016 (2016-CP-40-01444). (Appx. 662-666). She alleged the following grounds for relief in his application:

1. "The conviction has severe collateral consequences on me."
  - a. "The conviction can be pulled under my name and prevented me from getting housing, loans, and can be an obstacle to citizenship."
2. "I was forced to have counsel and he was stunningly ineffective and harmful."
  - a. "Please see the federal habeas case for more details of how ineffective and harmful Orin Briggs was"
3. "The very existence of Columbia's Municipal Court violates the federal Constitution."
  - a. "Please see transcript of 13 December 2013 hearing before Judge Lee"
4. "the ordinance(s) under which I was falsely convicted violate(s) both the federal and SC Constitutions in many ways which my forced counsel was too ineffective to raise"

(Appx. 663). Faltas supplemented her application by *pro se* filings on March 18, 2016, March 25, 2016, and February 21, 2017. (Appx. 667-739). The Richland County Clerk of Court's Office appointed Leah Moody, Esq., to represent Faltas on July 12, 2016. (Appx. 741). Respondent made its return on October 21, 2016, and thereafter amended it by filing made on November 14, 2016. (Appx. 742-56). Faltas, by and through PCR counsel, amended her

application by amendment made December 4, 2016, which provided the five allegations upon which she ultimately went forward:

1. “Trial counsel was ineffective by failing to object to/or raise prior to or during trial the following issues:”
  - a. “Preemption regarding the definition of rubbish prior to or contemporaneous to any discussions at trial;”
  - b. “the City of Columbia’s Municipal Court System violates the doctrine of Separation of Powers because the City’s executive branch is the same as the judicial branch;”
  - c. “the City’s actions constituted a taking of the Applicant’s land;”
  - d. “Applicant’s right to a trial by jury of her peers of immigrants and the statutory violation as to the number of jurors required in the venire;”
  - e. “Prejudice based on the Applicant’s right to make the final argument to the jury[.]”

(Appx. 757-58). An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on December 7, 2016, before the Honorable Jean H. Toal. (Appx. 760-854). Petitioner was present at the hearing and represented by Moody. Jessica E. Kinard, Esq., of the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office, represented Respondent.

The parties again appeared before Judge Toal on June 14, 2017, to complete the evidentiary hearing initiated the previous December. (Appx. 856-964). Judge Toal orally granted relief on a single issue: “that is the ineffectiveness of counsel in not putting forth the argument of preemption with respect to the state law with regard to the definition of rubbish and the definition of sanitary conditions.” (Appx. 929, ll. 18-23). Judge Toal denied all other grounds. (Appx. 959, ll. 16-18). Judge Toal found Counsel failed to raise and adequately preserve the issue for appeal, and noted she did not know how the higher court would consider the issue, but that she considered it “a very valid argument[.]” (Appx. 930-31). Judge Toal formalized her ruling by written order dated and filed June 14, 2018. (Appx. 936-37). The State

moved to reconsider the ruling by written motion filed June 25, 2018. (Appx. 941-45). Judge Toal denied the State's motion by written order dated and filed June 29, 2018. (Appx. 947).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The post-conviction relief court's findings of fact receive great deference during appellate review and will be upheld if "any evidence of probative value" exists in the record to support the lower court's findings. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. Id.; Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180-81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018).

## ARGUMENT

### **THE PCR COURT ERRED IN GRANTING PCR BECAUSE THE ORDINANCES WERE VALIDLY ADOPTED PURSUANT TO STATE LAW AND ARE NOT PREEMPTED BY DHEC REGULATIONS**

The PCR court erred in finding Counsel ineffective for failing to argue the City of Columbia ordinances defining “rubbish” were preempted by Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC”) regulations which also define “rubbish.” The facts of the underlying case are not in meaningful dispute: the City of Columbia cited Faltas for the accumulation of rubbish on her property, which she did not thereafter clean up. Concededly, Counsel did not raise the issue at trial, and Faltas raised it for the first time on appeal to the circuit court. Nonetheless, the issue is without merit as a matter of law, such that Briggs was not ineffective. State law empowers local municipalities to promulgate ordinances regulating the proper maintenance of real property, the ordinances issued are in accord with State law and the Constitution, and there is *nothing* to indicate the legislature intended to empower DHEC to preempt the entire field of what constitutes “rubbish.” This Court should grant certiorari to vacate and reverse the PCR court’s grant of relief because it is an error of law that threatens to frustrate and undermine the ability of the City of Columbia—or any other municipality for that matter—to enforce its most basic and legitimate codes aimed to preserve and promote the health, safety, and welfare of citizens in the city by forbidding the accumulation of rubbish on private property.

#### **A. The Ordinances at Issue were Adopted Pursuant to State Law**

The “preemption” at issue is whether the DHEC definition of “rubbish” preempts the definition provided in municipal regulations. DHEC is empowered to promulgate and enforce reasonable rules and regulations for a variety of public health purposes. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-

140. It is true that DHEC regulations provide a general purpose definition of rubbish: “Means solid wastes from residences and dwellings, commercial establishments, and institutions.” S.C. Code Ann. Regs. R. 61-62.1 § I, 79. However, that same section provides that the definitions apply only “when used in the Regulations and Standards” promulgated in the DHEC regulations, and as an augment to the South Carolina Pollution Control Act. Id.; see also S.C. Code Ann. §48-1-10, et. seq. (the “Pollution Control Act”).

State law provides that municipalities and counties may adopt by reference nationally recognized codes and standards for property construction and maintenance. S.C. Code Ann. §6-9-60. The City of Columbia municipal ordinances incorporate by reference the International Property Maintenance Code, and provides that:

Any other violation which is considered a public nuisance by any other violation of the International Property Maintenance Code or the municipal ordinances of the City of Columbia is hereby included in this section by general reference.

Columbia, S.C., Code § 8-32(b). The code defines rubbish as:

Combustible and noncombustible waste materials, except garbage; the term shall include the residue from the burning of wood, coal, coke and other combustible materials, paper, rags, cartons, boxes, wood excelsior, rubber, leather, tree branches, yard trimmings, tin cans, metals, mineral matter, glass, crockery and dust and other similar materials.

Int’l Prop. Bldg. Code § 202 (2009). Garbage, above excluded, is defined as “[t]he animal or vegetable waste resulting from the handling, preparation, cooking and consumption of food.” Id. The code thereafter prohibits the accumulation of rubbish or garbage, and establishes that “[a]ll exterior property and premises, and the interior of every structure, shall be free from any accumulation of rubbish or garbage.” Int’l Prop. Bldg. Code § 308.1 (2009) (emphasis omitted).

## **B. The Ordinances are not Preempted by DHEC Regulations**

The city adoption of the IPBC definition of rubbish is valid under statute and not preempted by the DHEC definition. “The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the Legislature.” Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 533 S.E.2d 578 (2000). Whether a local ordinance is valid is determined by way of a two-step process:

First, the Court must consider whether the municipality had power to enact the ordinance. If the State has preempted a particular area of legislation, a municipality lacks power to regulate the field, and the ordinance is invalid. If, however, the municipality had the power to enact the ordinance, the Court must then determine whether the ordinance is consistent with the Constitution and the general law of the state.

Foothills Brewing Concern, Inc. v. City of Greenville, 377 S.C. 355, 361, 660 S.E.2d 264, 267 (2008) (citations omitted). “To preempt an entire field, an act must make manifest a legislative intent that no other enactment may touch on the subject in any way.” Id. (quoting Bugsy’s v. City of Myrtle Beach, 340 S.C. 87, 94, 530 S.E.2d 890, 893 (2000)). “[F]or there to be a conflict between a state statute and a municipal ordinance both must contain either express or implied conditions which are inconsistent or irreconcilable with each other . . . . If either is silent where the other speaks, there can be not conflict between them. Where no conflict exists, both laws stand.” Id. (quoting Town of Hilton Head Island v. Fine Liquors, Ltd., 302 S.C. 550, 553, 397 S.E.2d 662, 664 (1990)).

Neither the PCR court’s order, nor Faltas’ arguments, show any intent by the legislature to empower DHEC to regulate the retention of rubbish, garbage, trash, or detritus on private property to the exclusion of all municipalities. Nor can the State find any such intent. To the contrary, municipalities have the ability to adopt and enforce the model codes as explicitly permitted by S.C. Code Ann. § 6-9-90. That municipalities are afforded the ability to prosecute

the nuisance accumulation of rubbish stands to reason: municipalities contract for the collection of rubbish, garbage, trash, and other detritus, not the State government.

The PCR court erred—no court could reasonably conclude that a motion to dismiss the citation on preemption grounds would have had any chance of prevailing, let alone that Faltas met her burden of showing as much. Accordingly, the PCR court's order granting post-conviction relief should be vacated and reversed.

### CONCLUSION