ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County

Honorable Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

MARIE ASSA'AD-FALTAS,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-001290

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

JESSICA M. SAXON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
SEP 13 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT
RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

There was evidence to support the PCR court's ruling that counsel was ineffective for failing to raise the issue of whether the local City of Columbia definition of rubbish and definition of sanitary conditions was preempted by state law and the Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC) regulations definitions.

I. PCR Was Properly Granted

In its petition for writ of certiorari the state focuses on whether the definition of "rubbish" is preempted by DHEC regulations. That, however, is not the main issue before the Court. The question is whether there was evidence to support the PCR judge's finding of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to raise the argument of preemption and there was such evidence. In reviewing the grant of PCR, the court must uphold the ruling if there is "any evidence of probative value" to support the lower court's findings. Webb v. State, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). A review of the record below offers ample evidence to support the PCR court's ruling.

At trial the central matters focused on whether the items on Respondent's property fell under the ordinance definitions of "rubbish", "unsanitary conditions" and "prohibited items." App. 52, ll. 21-25 – App. 53, ll. 1-5. One of the main arguments put forth by Respondent was that the materials on her property were all being used and repurposed into various items, such as shelves that she had designed, and did not fall under the definitions in the ordinances. The City argued everything on the property was rubbish, scrap, garbage, or debris and used those terms interchangeably throughout the trial.

A review of the record shows that while trial counsel did object to the use of certain terms, such as "debris," and that there was some argument over the definition of "trash" and

“rubbish,” trial counsel never put forth the DHEC definition of rubbish and unsanitary conditions. What constituted “rubbish” and unsanitary conditions was at the heart of the case and it was paramount that trial counsel challenge the definitions the City relied upon through all legal means available.

DHEC regulations define “rubbish” as “solid wastes from **residences and dwellings, commercial establishments and institutions.**” S.C. Code of Regulations R. 61-62.1 § I, 79. (emphasis added). The overbroad definition relied on by the City includes “combustible and noncombustible waste materials” and goes on to lists a myriad of random items to include “crockery and dust.” Int’l Prop. Bldg. Code § 202 (2009). The definition promulgated by DHEC is significantly narrower and focused on the solid waste typically found in households or commercial establishments. Under the DHEC regulations none of the items on Respondent’s property at the time of the case would have been defined as “rubbish” and Respondent would not have been subject to prosecution.

Prior to sentencing, Respondent made a *pro se* motion for a new trial where she specifically brought up the issue of state law preemption. App. 584-585. She argued, in part, that what is sanitary or not is determined by DHEC and that determination preempts any other determination. App. 585. During trial, Sims even admitted that the information on stagnant water leading to mosquitos possibly breeding was taken from DHEC. App. 304, ll. 1-4.

On direct appeal to the circuit court, where she represented herself *pro se* in the hearing after moving to have appointed counsel relieved, Respondent raised the specific issue of the DHEC definition of “rubbish” preempting the City definition. App. 727. Circuit Court Judge Lee ruled in her written order that the issue of preemption had not been raised properly below and was not proper for review at the appellate level. App. 758.

Counsel can be held ineffective for failing to make a valid legal argument. In Pantovich v. State, Op. No. 27915 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 7, 2019) (Davis Adv. Sh. No 32 at 43-58), this Court held that appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise a meritorious issue on a direct appeal. Specifically, Pantovich argued that appellate counsel was ineffective for filing an Anders⁴ brief that did not raise the issue of whether the trial judge erred in refusing his request to give the “good character alone” charge. Id. at 46. The PCR court dismissed the action ruling that in order to show prejudice the petitioner must show irregularity in the Court of Appeals’ Anders procedure. Id.

This Court reversed the dismissal stating that the appropriate inquiry is “but for appellate counsel’s errors, the result of the appeal would have been different.” Pantovich, at 46. On remand, the PCR court found appellate counsel ineffective reasoning that based on controlling precedent, the trial court was required to give the “good character alone” charge. Id. The PCR court held that petitioner was prejudiced because there was a reasonable probability the charge would have impacted the jury’s consideration. Id.

The same principle applies to trial counsel. Failure of counsel to make a meritorious legal argument is a valid ground on which to grant PCR. See, Sikes v State, 323 S.C. 28, 488 S.E.2d. 560 (1994) (finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to raise a meritorious Fourth Amendment claim). Importantly, it has never been asserted that the failure of counsel to make this argument was strategic in nature. Even were trial counsel or the state to argue that the decision was strategic, the notion that failure to raise a meritorious claim is a strategic decision has been dismissed by this Court. Id. at 32.

⁴ Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967)

Respondent was similarly situated to the petitioners in Pantovich and Sikes in that there was a valid legal motion that counsel failed to make. Based on the testimony and record the PCR Judge in the present action found that the question of preemption was a meritorious legal argument that could have changed the outcome of the case and thus failure to make the argument prejudiced Respondent. App. 1060. It is important to note that the PCR judge did not make a legal determination on the question of preemption. In ruling the PCR court stated,

“It is clear that the strategy of her original counsel, Mr. Lupton, was to pursue an attack on the technical sufficiency of the city’s ordinances, and he focused on the definition of the crime for which she was charged. Although it is not clear in the material I have whether his focus was directly on what Judge Lee talked about, what I am talking about, and what you, Ms. Moody, clarified in the material you filed, which is the preemption argument, and that is I don’t know how the court would – how the – a higher court look at that (the preemption issue). But it is a very valid argument and might have been and I think was (A) the most powerful argument to be made but (B) the only really valid one to be made.”

App. 1050-1051. This constituted a factual determination that it was ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to raise preemption and preserve it for direct appeal.

At the PCR hearing Lupton testified that prior to his substitution he had intended to make motions about the sufficiency of the charging documents, notice and other matters of a technical legal nature. App. 1021-1023. The trial court had ruled that Lupton could make these motions on the day of trial. When Lupton was substituted out as counsel, he offered Briggs the legal motions he had researched but Briggs declined. App. 1024.

At no point did Briggs make any motion regarding the technical sufficiency of the ordinances. Briggs failed to make several motions and regularly deferred to Respondent to raise matters to the court. App. 985-986. Not only did Briggs not discuss the arguments raised in the PCR application with Respondent prior to trial, he had no articulable reason for failing to do so. App. 986, ll. 17.

This Court has held that failure of counsel to properly investigate and research the law is grounds for ineffective assistance of counsel. In Berry v. State, 381 S.C. 630, 675 S.E.2d 425 (2009), counsel was held ineffective for failing to investigate and inform defendant that his prior drug paraphernalia conviction did not qualify for enhancement purposes. In Stevens v. State, 365 S.C. 309, 617 S.E.2d 366 (2005), counsel was held ineffective for failing to investigate and research the issue of whether the receipt of multiple items in a single transaction constitutes one offense or multiple offenses under the receiving stolen goods statute.

Both Counsel Briggs and Counsel Lupton failed to adequately investigate and research the law regarding preemption of the definitions used in the ordinances. While Lupton testified that he had technical legal challenges he intended to make, he never stated he was going to raise the issue of preemption. App. 1023-1024. Briggs not only passively fail to conduct his own research, he actively refused help that was offered. While he attempted to justify his performance by relying on the fact that he was substituted only twenty-four hours prior to trial the record shows he accepted representation knowing the date of trial had been set. App. 980 ll. 7-9; App. 981 ll. 5-10. Further, he had seen the property, knew what the city was charging and had knowledge of the case. App. 981, ll. 16-20. Briggs was not effective when he accepted the representation, ignored the offer of help from prior counsel but claimed to have knowledge of the matters being tried.

Respondent was prejudiced by the failings of counsel. Had the argument of preemption been researched, investigated, raised and ruled upon it would have resulted in either a dismissal of the charges or a meritorious issue to be argued on appeal. Either way respondent was deprived of effective assistance of counsel under the standards set out in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). There was an abundance of evidence to support the ruling of the

PCR judge that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel in this case. The state's petition for writ of certiorari should be denied and the ruling of the PCR court should be affirmed under the "any evidence" standard. See, Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989).

II. Additional Sustaining Grounds

Respondent submits the following additional grounds as bases to deny the petition for certiorari. Pon, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 388 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000) (holding that the prevailing party in the lower court may raise on appeal any additional reasons the court should affirm the lower court rulings regardless of whether those reasons were presented to or ruled on by the lower court).

Failure to challenge the applicability of the ordinances to the property

The City tried Respondent for three alleged violations under three different code sections. With a minimal amount of effort, trial counsel could have seen that the code sections cited do not apply to vacant lots. Failure to make the argument that, as a threshold matter, the ordinances did not apply to Respondent's property was ineffective assistance of counsel. Had counsel effectively made the arguments the case would have been dismissed. Counsel was deficient for failing to investigate and research the law as it applied to Respondents property.

Section 307.1 of the IMPC

Counsel was ineffective for not arguing that the IPMC as a whole did not apply to the vacant lot owned by Respondent. The City, at the time of this case, had adopted the IPMC only in Chapter 5 of the Code, which dealt specifically with buildings and building regulations. There was no adoption of the IMPC in Chapter Eight, which is where the alleged violations arose from.

In its certiorari petition the state cites City of Columbia Code Section 8-32(b) to support the application of the IMPC to Respondent's property but section 8-32(b) is the *current law* and was not in effect at the time of this case.

At the time this matter was charged and went to trial the only mention of IPMC in Chapter Eight of the City Code is that multiple violations of the IPMC will be declared a public nuisance. Nothing in then Chapter Eight purports to adopt the definitions of the IPMC either explicitly or by reference. The adoption of IPMC is restricted to Chapter Five of the Code. This is supported by fact that Chapter Nineteen of the City Code has a wholly different definition of "rubbish" that is used solely within that section.

Further, the state relies on S.C. Code § 6-9-60 to argue the IMPC was properly adopted and applied to Respondent's property. However, S.C. Code § 6-9-60 specifically states that

"Municipalities and counties may adopt by reference only the latest editions of the following nationally recognized codes and the standards referenced in those codes *for regulation of construction* within their respective jurisdictions: property maintenance, performance codes for buildings and facilities, existing building, and swimming pool codes as promulgated, published, or made available by the International Code Council, Inc."

Thus, in accord with state law municipalities cannot adopt the IPMC to regulate vacant lots. The IPMC may only be used for the regulation of construction. It was well established at trial that no construction was occurring on this lot.

Since the IMPC does not properly apply to Respondent's lot the definition of "rubbish" used by the City was invalid. In the absence of a definition it would be logical to default to the state regulatory agency on such matters and adopt the DHEC definition. Here again trial counsel's failure to research and investigate the case resulted in deficient performance.

Section 8.41

Counsel was also ineffective for failing to argue that section 8.41, titled “outdoor placement of certain items prohibited” does not apply to vacant lots. The code section at the time of this case read:

- (a) it shall be unlawful for the occupant or owner of any property within the city to allow any of the following items to **remain on the property outside a dwelling or other enclosed structure** for longer than 48 hours, in any location visible from the streets or sidewalks adjacent to the property: Appliances, bedding, bottles, glass, cans, cardboard, upholstered furniture manufactured for indoor use only, household appliances, jars, lumber and building supply materials not related to an active permit and not neatly stacked, machine parts, motor vehicle parts, pallets, paper, plumbing fixtures, scrap metal.
- (b) For purposes of this section, the phrase “**outside a dwelling or other enclosed structure**” shall mean any location that is not within the interior of a dwelling or other enclosed structure. Porches, balconies, decks, carports or other similar structures, unless completely enclosed, shall be deemed to be outside a dwelling or other enclosed structure. (emphasis added).

The plain language of the ordinance makes it clear that for section 8.41 to apply there must be a dwelling or enclosed structure on the property. The record reflects that Respondent’s property was a vacant lot. App. 263, ll. 12-14. There was also no construction occurring on the property and no permit to build anything at the time of the citation. App. 268, ll. 15-22. While it may very well be a violation of an ordinance to have various materials on a vacant lot, it is not a violation of the cited ordinance as alleged at trial.

Section 8.32

Trial counsel made an unspecific and incomplete argument about the constitutionality of the ordinances Respondent was charged under. App. 311-312. The focus of the argument should have been on the vagueness and overbreadth of section 8.32 specifically. Section 8.32, at the time of the case, read:

All premises shall be kept at all times in a sanitary condition and all garbage, leaves, trash, damp or low places, cans, vessels, broken bottles, or pieces of china or glass that may hold water shall be deemed unsanitary.

In determining whether a statute is unconstitutionally vague, this Court has held:

The concept of vagueness or indefiniteness rests on the constitutional principle that procedural due process requires fair notice and proper standards for adjudication. The primary issues involved are whether the provisions of a penal statute are sufficiently definite to give reasonable notice of the prohibited conduct to those who wish to avoid its penalties and to apprise Judge and jury of standards for the determination of guilt. If the statute is so obscure that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its applicability, it is unconstitutional.

State v. Albert, 257 S.C. 131, 134, 184 S.E.2d 605, 606 (1971).

The broad and vague nature of this ordinance makes it impossible for a person to have reasonable notice of the prohibited conduct. Respondent was charged with having a “vessel” that could hold water on her property, specifically buckets. However, a “vessel” is not defined in the ordinance and could be anything from a bird bath or child’s pool, to a bucket or trash can. The City is essentially banning any object that could hold water from ever being on a piece of property.

There is also no notice as to what qualifies as “unsanitary.” At trial the City alleges that the “unsanitary” condition on Respondent’s property is the possibility of mosquito’s breeding in stagnant water that sits for five or more days. App. 274, ll. 6-20. The City relies on information from DHEC that the water must be standing for five days at a minimum. App. 304. However, there was never any mosquito activity observed at Respondent’s property nor any evidence presented of stagnant water existing for a period of time exceeding five days. App. 303.

A plain reading of the ordinance shows that it is overbroad and vague. A review of the current City of Columbia Code shows *that this section has been abandoned in its entirety*. The Code section where 8.32 originally appeared has been rewritten with specificity and the notion of

items holding water being banned as “unsanitary” has been removed. The ordinance at the time of the trial criminalized future possible outcomes. Again, trial counsel failed to fully and thoroughly argue that this ordinance did not apply to Respondent’s property.

As stated above this Court has held that failure of counsel to properly investigate and research the law is grounds for ineffective assistance of counsel. See, Berry v. State, 381 S.C. 630, 675 S.E.2d 425 (2009); Stevens v. State, 365 S.C. 309, 617 S.E.2d 366 (2005). Counsel was derelict in failing to research the ordinances Respondent was charged under and challenge them as the applied to Respondent’s property. This case turned on the definitions of “rubbish,” “scrap metal,” and “unsanitary conditions.” It would have taken minimal effort on the part of trial counsel to research these issues and failure to do so cannot be deemed effective assistance of counsel.

Failure to challenge the sufficiency of the jury pool

Counsel was also ineffective for failing to challenge the sufficiency of the jury pool at the time of selection. Prior to the start of jury selection, the court announced that there were *twenty-four* prospective jurors present. App. 222, ll. 21-23. Trial counsel failed to make any objection despite Respondent’s insistence that the statute required forty jurors to be present for selection. App. 255, ll. 5-6. Trial counsel refused to make any argument and instead proceeded forward with jury selection with only twenty-four prospective jurors. App. 225, ll. 7-10.

In State v. Johnson, 396 S.C. 424, 721 S.E.2d 786 (Ct. App. 2012), the petitioner argued that his case should have been continued because only thirty-three jurors were present at selection and the statute mandated that a minimum of forty jurors be present. The state argued that the statute only required a minimum of forty jurors be drawn for qualification and that the only requirement was that there be enough jurors present at selection for each side to be able to

exercise all their peremptory challenges. *Id.* at 427. After a review of the relevant statutes the court ruled that the statute did not require a minimum number of forty jurors to be present at jury selection. *Id.* at 432. However, the court held that the statute did *mandate there be enough jurors present for each side to effectively exercise all their peremptory challenges and still seat a jury of six members with four alternates.* *Id.* at 432-433 (emphasis added). Given that each party was entitled to six peremptory challenges to primary jurors and four peremptory challenges to alternative jurors for a combined twenty challenges, and the statute required a ten-member jury panel be sat, the court held that *thirty jurors was the minimum number required meet the statutory demands.* *Id.* at 433.

Comparing Johnson to the case at bar it is obvious the *statutory mandated* minimum number of jurors was not present at the time of jury selection. With only twenty-four prospective jurors present it would have proven impossible for both sides to exercise all their peremptory challenges and still seat a full jury. Further the record shows that the municipal judge only sat one alternative instead of the four alternative jurors required by S.C. Code Ann. § 22-2-100. App. 243, ll. 20-21.

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to a trial by a jury that is randomly selected and representative of the community in which the defendant resides. To ensure that this right is fulfilled in municipal and magistrate courts, the legislature enacted S.C. Code Ann. § 22-2-20 through 22-2-150. The purpose of these statutes is to ensure that the jury pool provided during selection is representative of the community and sufficient in numbers to guarantee that each side would receive its maximum strikes while still being able to seat a full panel. A pool of twenty-four individuals does not meet the statutory mandated minimum required for a full and fair jury. More importantly, such a low number is too small a sample to be a representative cross